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    Preface


    The existence of Edward Henty’s journal is well known, that of Francis Henty’s journal less so. Edward Henty’s journal was presented to the La Trobe Library, Melbourne, by Mr Edric Henty, Mr Brian Armstrong and Miss Dorothy Armstrong, and Francis’s journal by Miss Elsie Hindson. The two journals are part of a much larger collection of Henty manuscripts which have been presented to the State Library of Victoria at different times. The importance of these journals to an understanding of the early history of Victoria was recognized by the Council of the State Library of Victoria and I am indebted to the Council for inviting me to edit them for publication.

    Miss Patsy Hardy, then Publications Manager of the Council, gave me every assistance while I was working on the journals and read the final manuscript, and Professor A. G. L. Shaw also kindly suggested improvements to the manuscript. I am indebted to the offices of the State Library of Victoria and particularly of the La Trobe Collection, and of the Rural History Centre, Reading, for their assistance; and to Mrs Patricia Gill, West Sussex County Archivist, Mr M. C. Sheldrick, British Museum (Natural History), and Mr John Fisher, Department of Conservation and Natural Resources, Pordand, for information. Mrs Jean Dunn of Melbourne University Press has further improved the manuscript while editing it for the Press.

    The transcription and editing of the journals was made possible by a grant from Carlton & United Breweries Ltd.

    Reading, UK Lynnette Peel
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  Introduction


  This is the story of five years in the lives of four young men: Edward, Francis, John and Stephen Henty. In 1834 Edward, Francis (referred to as Frank throughout the journals) and John were the farming members of the family and Stephen was engaged in coastal shipping from Launceston. Their eldest brother, James, was established as a merchant in Launceston and their two other elder brothers, Charles and William, were following their respective professions of banker and lawyer—Charles in Launceston, William still in England although destined to join the family in Launceston within three years. Their sister Jane, two years previously, had married Samuel Bryan, the owner of substantial farming properties near Launceston. Overseeing the family affairs was their father, Thomas Henty, who with their mother, Frances, had come to Launceston in 1832.*

  When they began their settlement at Portland Bay in November 1834 they were not the mature men of the surviving portraits. Edward was twenty-four, Frank nineteen, John twenty-one and Stephen twenty-three. Eldest brother James, to whom due deference was shown, was then thirty-four; Charles was twenty-seven and William twenty-eight.

  Their father had been a long-established farmer at West Tarring, close by Worthing, in Sussex, England. There he had owned Church Farm, of 281 acres, and rented further land and his late cousin’s house Field Place, near Church Farm, where the family had lived for some years. Thomas Henty had prospered during the Napoleonic wars and was joint founder of a small, local bank at Worthing. When the fortunes of farming declined at the end of the wars, he sent James and then Charles to the bank to learn the business. He was well known as a breeder of fine horses and especially of Merino sheep and when John Street, a friend from Surrey, emigrated to New South Wales in 1821 he took some of Thomas Henty’s Merinos with him. These did well on the Bathurst Plains and during the 1820s other Australian settlers imported sheep from the Henty flock. As Thomas Henty exchanged letters with Street he gradually began to consider the possibility of transferring his farming activities to Australia where, he believed, opportunities for his large family, and for breeding his Merino sheep, would be better than in England. Young Edward, too, was anxious to go out. Eventually, in 1829, James, Stephen and John sailed for the new Swan River settlement as an advance party to take up land. They chartered a ship and took with them farm workers and their families, livestock, implements and stores. Settlers arriving in 1829 were to receive a grant of land in proportion to the capital value of what they brought to the colony. Under these terms the Hentys were able to claim a grant of 84 413 acres.

  The Swan River land did not fulfill the promise of the glowing reports of the naval commander James Stirling and the botanist Charles Frazer. These farmer’s sons soon found the soil to be very poor sand, and none of the land made available to them was suited to their purpose. In 1831 James purchased the schooner Thistle when it was put up for sale at Swan River, and prepared to transfer to Launceston. Stephen took the Thistle to Launceston, arriving at the beginning of 1832, and James followed shortly afterwards leaving John at King George’s Sound until 1833. Meanwhile their parents, sister Jane, and brothers Charles, Edward and Frank had sailed from England to join them, learning only just in time to travel to Launceston instead of Swan River.

  At Launceston the Hentys rented Cormiston, a 2000 acre property on the west bank of the River Tamar and within four miles of the town, then Red Hill, an additional 1000 acres on the east bank, and James and Charles continued the trading already begun by James. Before long Charles was called upon to sort out the affairs of the Cornwall Bank and soon was appointed Managing Director. Stephen continued trading with the Thistle. But land of their own was needed if the family’s original aim was to be realized and a sound future found, particularly for the younger brothers.

  As the Hentys were moving to Van Diemen’s Land the land regulations were changed so that land was no longer available by grant but had to be purchased. Their memorial requesting a grant there was refused. Their capital had been invested in bringing themselves, their farm labourers, livestock and equipment to the colonies in the expectation of receiving a grant of land to farm; they did not now have the funds available to buy it. It was not surprising, therefore, that the Hentys’ thoughts should turn to the country across Bass Strait.

  Edward Henty, in April 1833, joined the Caernarvon on a whaling trip to Spencer’s Gulf in order to see some of the country on the southern coast of the mainland. Captain Liddle, in the Thistle, sailed the same month for Swan River with instructions to call at Spencer’s Gulf on the return voyage and meet the Caernarvon to see if it had a cargo of oil available. The Thistle met the Caernarvon at Memory Cove and Edward Henty transferred to the Thistle for the voyage home. On the way they called at Portland Bay where Michael Connolly and John Griffiths of Launceston had a whaling party. Portland Bay was already well known to traders; sealers had used the Bay from at least the 1820s. Edward was impressed with the land there and reportedly took a sample of the turf home to show his father. He arrived back in Launceston on 6 August 1833,1 then quickly made a return visit to Portland Bay with Captain John Hart in the Elizabeth.

  On 8 December Edward set out again in the Thistle for Kangaroo Island and Swan River with a cargo of goods for trading,2 but this time his father was on board and on the way they explored Portland Bay and other points to the west. Thomas Henty was well pleased with the land Edward showed him at Portland Bay, and concurred with James about that at Swan River. After a seven-week stay at Swan River they called again at the Bay on their voyage back to Launceston in March-April 1834. By the time they reached Launceston, James had already sailed for England. His purpose was to further his interests as a merchant and to approach the Colonial Office in support of a memorial in Thomas’s name seeking permission for himself and his sons to purchase a total of 20 000 acres on the south coast of the mainland on terms over ten years. But the government had not yet sanctioned any form of private settlement on the south coast of the mainland and in the end it was decided not to wait for a reply to the memorial or the return of James. Charles, in charge of the business of Henty & Co. in James’s absence, and Edward proceeded instead to plan the shipment in the Thistle of livestock, goods and a house in frame to Portland Bay. Edward was to be the manager of the new farming venture destined to begin at the Bay on 19 November 1834. A whaling venture, too, was already being planned.3

  Farming at Portland

  Edward had been brought up on his father’s farm on the south coast of England. The soil at West Tarring was rich, the climate mild with a nine-month growing season. The farm lay on a low narrow stretch of land between the South Downs, rising sharply behind, and the sea. The contours of the land at Portland Bay between Mount Clay and the shore must have reminded him very much of his former home in England. As befitted his background he was accustomed to the management of farm workers and trained in the skills and knowledge of agriculture. In particular he understood well the principles of maintaining soil fertility and caring for livestock. He was also accustomed to managing his affairs in a business-like manner with day books entered up and records kept. His father had been a farmer of standing in Sussex, well known to the Earl of Egremont at nearby Petworth, to the Duke of Richmond, and to other leading agriculturalists, and thus had access to knowledge of the most up-to-date farming methods. He certainly was not tolerant of slovenly farming and noted at Launceston that ‘[wheat] is the general crop, Wheat after Wheat without Manure for years together, the farming is intolerably bad, the Climate beautiful’.4 This background is reflected in the way Edward and his brothers farmed at Portland.

  The weather was of prime importance to this new venture and its vagaries at Portland had to be learnt. Throughout the journals the wind and the weather are recorded daily and readings from the thermometer and barometer are occasionally added. The habit of later Australian farmers of measuring each fall of rain had not at this stage been developed by the brothers, but then the rainfall at Portland is 32 inches (813 mm) per year so a precise daily measurement was of comparatively little importance. On the other hand, the settlement was dependent on shipping communications; the direction of the wind frequently dictated whether or not a ship sailed or arrived, and the weather encountered determined the length of the voyage. Edward’s first passage from Launceston to Portland with livestock took thirty-four days because of heavy weather; repeatedly he had to put back to King Island and a number of animals were lost on the way (19 November 1834). Similarly in November 1836 the Schooner Sally Ann took twenty-eight days for the same voyage (17 November 1836); but with better weather and different winds the voyage could take only three days (11 February 1835). The success of lambing and shearing was also dictated by the weather—a change to cold and wet could kill young lambs (4 August 1836) and newly shorn lambs and sheep (23 February 1838). A shower at the right time brought on newly sown crops, at the wrong time prevented them being sown. Frank, at least, saw a day with a west-north-west wind and light showers as ‘a likely day for a whale’ (6 May 1836).

  The weather could not be controlled, but had to be understood. The men had to be both understood and controlled. This was no mean task for the youthful Henty brothers, but the disciplines of the rule of law, and proper employment practice were well known to them and understood. Indeed, their father and brother James were both magistrates at Launceston, and their father had enjoyed a reputation as a good employer in England. Thus, when the cook was impertinent and refused to cook, or there was other cause for serious reprimand, details of the event were carefully noted in the journal and the names recorded of witnesses present (30 March 1835, 18 April 1839). Employment practices now embodied in English law still require a similar approach.

  The farming system adopted was not a simple shipping of sheep across Bass Strait and the immediate occupation of large tracts of land. This approach belonged to the period several years later. The land was still unknown. The Hentys were accustomed to integrated livestock and cropping farming and, although their long-term aim as to build up their flocks, their first priority was to produce crops to supply food for their men and supplementary feed for their livestock. To this end Edward brought working bullocks, heifers, pigs, potatoes, wheat, other seeds, a plough and harrows as part of his first shipment; the sheep were to come later.

  Edward’s first activity was to prepare a garden and sow it with the vegetable seeds he had brought with him, while his men built themselves a hut. A stock-yard was then built, and the surrounding country briefly explored in the company of William Dutton, chief headsman of Connolly and Griffiths whaling party at the Bay. Edward then began ploughing for a crop of potatoes. This involved clearing grass and small trees, and grubbing stumps in preparation for the plough. Indian corn (maize), turnips and peas were sown. On 19 December the Thistle returned with more cattle and stores, the first sheep, and Frank Henty as passenger, who had come to assist his brother. A total of 83 sheep, including rams, ewes and wethers, were landed; and the additional cattle brought the total of all cattle landed to 26. The main activity from then until mid-February was building a sheep yard and fencing. The latter was a long, laborious job as the posts and rails for the fences were split in the nearby bush and morticed and shaped by hand. In January the cattle and sheep were given into the care of one man. In mid-February a waterhole was dug and then work started on erecting the house. A lime kiln was built and a forge erected; a heifer calved and a hen hatched 12 Guinea fowls. Work on the house proceeded steadily and soon the splitting of stringy-bark posts and rails was resumed.

  The house was finally ready for occupation and Edward and Frank moved in from their tent on 23 April 1835. After the house was finished a store was built for flour; in time, further outbuildings were added. Fencing continued with intermittent breaks to cut grass for the sheep yard and bullock yard; a lambing paddock was now needed. In June a pig pound was built and the Lagoon paddock fenced; in July the splitting of posts and rails continued. By August, it was time to resume ploughing and start planting potatoes. Attention was now given to clearing the land and grubbing stumps; onions, carrots and parsnips were sown. On 15 September 61 lambs were weaned; shortly afterwards Edward began sowing wheat on the newly prepared land, and more potatoes were planted. In October the early planted potatoes were hoed, more potatoes were planted and also wheat, peas, barley, fruit and vegetables. More potatoes were planted in November in addition to cabbages, Indian corn and turnips; and the sheep were shorn. By early December some potatoes were being harvested, others required hoeing, and a number of the cows calved. For the men it was time to resume fencing. On 13 December the Thistle arrived bringing a further 15 head of cattle. On this day, too, Frank began to keep a journal, which usefully fills gaps where Edward later stopped keeping his. Meanwhile, throughout the year ships had come and gone, and from April to September rival whaling parties had competed for the numerous whales that appeared in the Bay.

  A similar pattern of activity was followed on the farm during 1836. That year hay was made from the indigenous pasture and stored in a rick yard; 3 tons of it was shipped to Launceston (5 April 1836). Potatoes were harvested from late February onwards and wheat in April-May. Vegetables were picked regularly and turnips were fed to the pigs. More land was fenced, cleared and ploughed and potatoes remained the major crop, with several different varieties sown. In accordance with good farming practice, manure was taken from the yards and applied to the garden and potato fields. More outbuildings and huts were erected, and an extension was added to the house in anticipation of the arrival of John Henty and of Stephen and his wife towards the end of the year.

  More ewes were shipped from Launceston in February, and Edward began building a thatched sheep shed. His father had written to him about the sheep in April 1835: ‘If you can put up a temporary Shed to keep them dry in the Rainy Winter, which you may expect, It will cause you to preserve many more of your Lambs, in the Lambing Season, everything in Sheepfarming depends upon even keep and Shelter during the Wet Winter, and not turning your young Lambs out too soon . . . If you can Cut some Grass for Hay in lambing time you will find it of the greatest advantage’.5 Edward undoubtedly was heeding his father’s advice.

  A well-ordered, productive English farm was being created in no small measure. The good rainfall at Portland meant that it was an excellent location for growing basic foodstuffs, such as vegetables and potatoes, and this activity was continued well beyond the time of the last entry in these journals, with some of the produce such as potatoes being shipped to Adelaide. As the Hentys went on to develop their whaling and trading at Portland and grazing inland, their farming activities at Portland continued to provide a steady supply of meat, potatoes, vegetables, hay and grain. This established, well-regulated farm base which the Henty family created at Portland in conjunction with adequate storage facilities and an excellent harbour was of great importance not only for their own activities in trading, whaling and grazing but in the whole settlement of the area.

  James Henty, back from England (without formal blessing for the settlement, but with a little informal encouragement), came to Portland in the Thistle on 23 February 1836 for a three-week visit, bringing with him 135 sheep and other livestock. While there he made a careful note of all the stock landed and the births and losses to 6 March; he later recorded further imports of 300 ewes and ewe lambs in March and 294 in April, giving a total of 856 sheep before the new season’s lambs arrived. He also made careful notes of the state of the fishery, of equipment needed, that the man Hubbard was ‘a perfect nuisance’ and that the boats he was meant to repair (11 February 1835) were in ‘miserable order’. He was clearly looking over the family’s affairs and wrote in his book that Edward was to have charge of all the property and men not immediately concerned with the fishery, to which Edward had agreed ‘provided the whole of the Tongueing is appropriated to him’.6

  This appears to have been a continuation of existing arrangements. In November 1836 a formal partnership for running the affairs at Portland was established, with shares being allotted to all the Henty brothers, including James, Charles and William, and also to Samuel Bryan, their brother-in-law. Before that date Thomas Henty had provided for the labour and most of the livestock, and Henty & Co. had provided the provisions, materials and buildings. This arrangement allowed for an injection of capital and the settlement of the debt to Henty & Co., while at the same time the value of Thomas Henty’s contribution to date was put towards the four youngest brothers’ shares.7

  With the arrival of the extra sheep, arrangements had to be made for shepherding. The sheep were divided into two flocks of 400–450 each and hurdles were made to provide temporary enclosures to hold them at night. The cattle could be left to fend for themselves and, apart from proving difficult to find at times (20 August 1836), they came to no harm. But if the sheep were left untended they were at serious risk of being killed by native dogs (dingoes) (17 September 1836). For the same reason rabbits brought on 19 November 1834, even if of a wild variety, would have had great difficulty in becoming established in the bush during these early years. Sheep stations (out-stations) were formed at various places. In June one flock was at the Double Corner Marsh, the other on the Bluff; in July they were both transferred to Wattle Hill. There was now a considerable extra demand for labour. Hurdles had to be moved, the sheep treated for scab (with a tobacco infusion with or without arsenic) and their feet pared and dressed for foot rot (22 June, 20 October 1836). On 1 September, Stephen Henty brought a further 200 sheep in the Sally Ann, a ship Stephen had purchased. Sheep washing and shearing now took longer and whalers who had remained over summer were brought in to help (29 December 1836).

  Also on 1 September 1836, John Henty arrived in the Guiana to join Edward and Frank. Edward took the opportunity of the Sally Ann’s return voyage with Stephen to visit Launceston; they left on 15 September 1836. His visit was no doubt prompted by the surprise arrival at Portland of Major Thomas Mitchell, the Surveyor General of New South Wales, at the end of August. Mitchell had come overland from Sydney and brought news of excellent sheep country to the north of Portland, and the Hentys were the first to hear it (29 August 1836). Edward returned on 18 December together with Stephen and Jane, Stephen’s wife of a few months, to make their home there—the settlement was growing. Frank’s account of farming activity ceases on 5 January 1837 and thereafter his journal records only shipping and whaling matters until September. He does note, however, on 11 August 1837, that he and John ‘got back from the Glenelg Plains’. Some of the whaling entries were clearly copied from another’s record.*

  In the summer of 1837, 2200 sheep had been shipped across Bass Strait in the Thistle, Eagle and Sally Ann and gradually taken to Mount Eckersley, or North Downs as the brothers called their station there. They had first reached Mount Eckersley in early September 1836 when exploring after Major Mitchell’s visit and then had cleared a track through the intervening forest to get the sheep there. From Mount Eckersley they had explored further north and found the Glenelg Plains and the Wannon River—the land Major Mitchell had referred to. Frank and John had then followed with the first flock of sheep, arriving at Merino Downs, their new station on the Plains, on 3 August 1837—and returning to the Bay on 11 August. John then started for the Glenelg Plains on 24 August and Stephen on 27 August; whether or not with sheep is not mentioned. James and Edward arrived in the Eagle on 3 September, and Samuel Bryan in the Africaine on 9 September with 500 sheep on board. The next day Samuel Bryan, James, Edward, Stephen and Frank started for the Glenelg Plains and returned six days later, ‘Every one highly delighted with the country’. The whaling record stops on 25 September; there is a gap in the diary, then Frank writes, ‘Arrived on the Plains October 15th 1837’.

  With the move inland to the drier but extensive plains, the detailed care of the sheep, so characteristic of the intensive English system, was modified. The shepherds were now given 1000 sheep each to look after (9 January 1838) instead of only half that number as before, whilst the smothering of two lambs during washing and shearing (10, 22 January 1838) illustrates the change in the standard of care provided compared with only two years earlier when a thatched shed had been built for the lambing ewes. As occurred throughout Australia during the development of the pastoral industries, livestock numbers per man were greatly increased and attention to individual animals decreased correspondingly, compared with English practice. The labour was not available for, and the financial returns could not sustain, a more intensive system.

  Here on the Plains, Frank tells briefly of a new factor to be taken into account—relationships with the Aborigines. At Portland Bay contacts had been limited and generally friendly, and Frank had left blankets out for the Aborigines who, he assumed, had taken them (9 January 1836). On the Plains they were present in much greater numbers and he had had to resort to firing a shot over their heads (31 January 1838) to deter them from their understandable interest in the sheep and shepherds. The tensions are evident and it is not difficult to believe that a shepherd was later murdered. But the record of life on the Plains is short and Frank’s account (and journal) ends on 2 March 1838.

  Back at Portland Bay, the more intensive farming continued as before, and from 28 February 1838 John Henty began writing up Edward’s journal. On 9 November 1837 John had brought his new wife, Eliza, to live with him at the Bay, before moving to the Plains in 1838. John gives an insight into the handling of stores, the importance of the Portland base to the move inland, and the growth of more general trading besides servicing the fishery. Other settlers were arriving, and the Hentys had moved sheep to a station at Bridgewater. Both sheep and cattle were now being killed for meat—a sharp contrast to April 1835 when Edward was out of meat and the sheep and cattle were too few to be slaughtered. Kangaroo meat and the abundance of fish had been important resources in the first year (10 April 1835). John Henty’s last entry on 31 March 1838 records the arrival of his father and mother, who had come on a visit to see for themselves the results of their sons’ labours and their own faith in emigrating; as far as can be known, they were well pleased. Thomas Henty died in Launceston the following year, on 25 October.

  Edward Henty resumed his journal on 8 September 1838 and between then and the last entry in the journal on 6 July 1839 he and Frank alternated in writing the daily account of farming, shipping and whaling at the Bay. Clearing land, fencing and ploughing continued, with potatoes still the main crop. On 29 March 1839 4 tons of potatoes was shipped on board the Sally Ann for Adelaide. More bullocks and horses were now in use for draught—no doubt helping also to increase the supply of manure being carted regularly to the crop land. A wheeled horse-hoe and a second type of harrow were among additional items of equipment now referred to, and a barn was built.

  Sheep were taken to and from the Plains and continued to be shepherded at Bridgewater or Wattle Hill. Substantial quantities of wool were shipped from the Bay. The sheep at Portland were shorn in early November and it is interesting to note that the wool was washed after shearing (13 November 1838) rather than on the sheep as was usual. Some, if not all, of these sheep were wethers (5 November 1838) and possibly of a breed selected as most suitable for providing meat for the settlement and therefore with not very valuable fleeces. Meat was in demand, and the price of wool had been falling since 1837.8

  More ships were now calling at the Bay on their way to Adelaide, and the settlement gained a surgeon and his wife on 31 January 1839—Mr and Mrs Lovell Byass whom the Hentys had known at Worthing. In March the Hentys’ carpenter began building them a house. Mr Byass had arrived at a critical time, for on 27 January news reached Portland that the Children, a barque owned by James Henty & Co., had been wrecked to the east of Port Fairy (beyond Warrnambool at Childers Cove) with loss of life.* The survivors were brought to Portland. Among them was Samuel Bryan, who had to have the tops of three toes removed by Mr Byass (6 February 1839).

  Sheep

  The origin of the sheep brought to Portland warrants specific mention. Towards the end of the eighteenth century Spain produced the finest wool in Europe, and two-thirds of her exports went to England. For four centuries the Spanish had endeavoured to prevent their sheep leaving Spain, as indeed had the British theirs for a lesser period, but between 1723 and 1786 Sweden, Saxony, Austria and France all succeeded in obtaining Spanish Merinos and establishing flocks of these sheep.

  England was later in taking an interest in the animals themselves, but eventually in 1785 Sir Joseph Banks, President of the Royal Society, acquired two Spanish Merinos from a flock in France. Then in 1788 he obtained a further 44 Merinos, of various breeding, from France for George III to start a flock at Windsor, and later that year two ewes and a ram of true Spanish blood were smuggled out of Spain for the king’s flock. Thereafter, to 1792, a further 144 Spanish Merinos were brought out of Spain for the royal flock which was in this way formed of Merinos of the Negretti strain. In 1808, during the Napoleonic invasion of Spain, 2214 of the finest breeding ewes and rams of the famous Paular flock were given to the King of England by the Junta of the Asturias; 2000 were for the king and 214 to be divided amongst four of his ministers. These sheep were landed at Portsmouth and driven across the South Downs to Richmond. Of the original total selected 427 died either in Spain or on the way. George III allowed his ministers their 214, and he finally received 1573, in of which were rams. The sheep had belonged to Don Manuel de Godoy, the Prince of the Peace, the powerful minister of Charles IV of Spain, before the latter was deposed in 1808. He had taken the flocks from the monks of the Carthusian Monastery of Santa Maria del Paular in the valley of Alcudia at the foot of the Sierra de Guadarrama near Segovia in 1796. Eventually, after the ravages of war, the remnants of these flocks were sold to the United Kingdom Commissary-General by the Junta to be shared between himself and the Consul for the United States at Lisbon. As a result, of the 30 000 Paular sheep confiscated from the monastery, it has been estimated by H. B. Carter that about 2300 of the survivors ended up in the United Kingdom (including those given to the king) and a similar number in the United States. George III received another gift of some 2000 sheep from the Spanish Junta in 1809, this time from the remnants of the famous Negretti cabanas, now ravaged by war but earlier the source of those first Negrettis smuggled out for the king. This was the last major addition to the king’s flocks.

  The flocks were managed by Sir Joseph Banks in close consultation with George III who also took a direct personal interest in the Merinos. But the king’s health was failing and with the final onset of insanity the regency was declared in February 1811. Thereafter commissioners were appointed to manage the king’s affairs. By now the flocks were extensive and pasturage was in short supply. Banks was consulted, and the flocks were reduced in size; after a large sale in 1813 only the nucleus flock, derived from the original imports, remained. This flock was still being maintained in 1818, but two years later its two founders, the king and his scientist friend, died, and the final years of the flock are obscure.9

  Thomas Henty was a Merino breeder of distinction before he left England. When he first obtained Merinos is not certain. James Youl, a Van Diemen’s Land breeder who knew Henty, recorded that it was about 1796, but this seems a little early. In 1796 Thomas Henty was twenty-one. His father died that year and he bought Church Farm, not far from his old home. At some later date he almost certainly obtained Merinos from the flock of the third Earl of Egremont, sixteen miles away at Petworth; he is known to have bought thoroughbred horses from there. Sheep from the king’s flock were dispersed by presentation only, from 1791 to 1799, and Henty was not a recipient of any of these early presentations totalling in all 259 sheep.10 However, George III gave the Earl of Egremont two of the imported rams in 1794, and in 1797 he gave the Earl a second, particularly generous, gift of two rams and twenty ewes ‘of the True Spanish Breed’. It is most likely that Henty obtained his first ‘thoroughbred’ Merinos from the progeny of this flock. It is conceivable that the date of around 1796 quoted by Youl referred either to the time of the original gifts from the king to establish the Petworth flock from which Henty then derived his first Merinos, or to the date Henty acquired his farm, and that the story became confused with the telling—this remains, however, to be proven.

  One thing that is known is that in 1809 Thomas Henty purchased one of the Paular rams from the king for £36 10s at an auction of sheep from the royal flock.11 This was his only direct purchase up until 1811, although it is feasible that he obtained other sheep from this source at a later date. Certainly, by 1810 he had a flock of Merino sheep, for Thomas Young, in a letter written at Worthing to Banks, quotes a diameter measurement made on wool from an ‘Anglo Merino, from a flock of Mr Henty Church Place Tarring’. The measurement was made with an agricultural micrometer (or eriometer) invented by Young and the diameter given was 27/45000ths of an inch (15.2 microns), though Young suggested that the result was probably a little too small. Results from present-day measurements on samples of wool preserved from the 5-shear and 3-shear rams given to the Earl of Egremont in 1797 were respectively: staple length 7.1 and 5.3 cm, mean fibre diameter 20.9 and 23.2 microns with coefficients of variation of 16.9 per cent and 17.1 per cent.12

  Thomas Henty continued to develop his flock, and by at least 1817 was winning prizes for them at shows. He became a very successful exhibitor in both England and Van Diemen’s Land.13 In a Christmas Day letter to John Street in 1824 he records the addition of some new blood to his flock: T have bought Mr. Barclay’s small flock of Merinoes (22 Ewes). These are true bred from the Windsor Flock. Their wool is inferior to mine, a cross from my Rams will improve them no doubt’. Mr Barclay was ‘Robt. Barclay Esqr. Bury Hill’ (near Dorking, Surrey) and he could be contacted through Barclay Brothers, Old Broad Street.14 It appears that Thomas was anxious to introduce new blood from time to time. In 1836 his son James wrote to John Street in New South Wales, ‘My Fathers Sheep are highly approved of here but notwithstanding I am anxious to procure a couple of good Rams simply for a change of blood and I shall feel obliged if you will take the trouble to select a couple bred wholly from other Flocks’—that is from flocks which had not been bred with sheep from the Henty flock.15

  There had been a steady demand for breeding stock from the Henty flock for many years, first in England and then in Van Diemen’s Land. John Street had emigrated to New South Wales in 1821 taking sheep from the Henty flock with him. In a letter to him in 1822 Henty asked for detailed information including how the English grasses of Mr Macarthur had succeeded. He clearly knew much of Macarthur’s activities at Camden Park, New South Wales, as he also requested details of ‘The size of his best Merino sheep as well as the quantity of the best woolled Sheep there are, not forgetting a comparison of their size and fineness of wool with mine and stating the cause of his fleeces and the size of his Sheep being so much lighter and smaller than mine’.16 In 1825 John Macarthur asked Henty for a four-year contract for all the young sheep he could spare, and the following year members of the Macarthur family visited West Tarring and bought 30 Merino ewes.
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